## FDA Briefing Document Vaccines and Related Biological Products Advisory Committee Meeting June 5, 2024

Selection of the 2024-2025 Formula for COVID-19 vaccines

## **Table of Contents**

1	Meeting Objective	3
2	Background	3
2.1	Previous VRBPAC Discussions and Vaccine Composition Recommendations	. 3
2.2	FDA Approved and Authorized COVID-19 Vaccines	. 3
2.2	.1 Spikevax and Moderna COVID-19 Vaccine (2023-2024 formula)	. 3
2.2	.2 Comirnaty, Pfizer-BioNTech COVID-19 Vaccine (2023-2024 formula)	. 4
2.2	.3 Novavax COVID-19 Vaccine, Adjuvanted (2023-2024 formula)	. 4
3	Considerations for a Periodic Updated Strain Composition of COVID-19 Vaccines	. 4
3.1	Current Effectiveness of Authorized COVID-19 Vaccines (2023-2024 Formula) and Need for Selection of 2024-2025 Formula	a 4
3.2	Current Virus Surveillance	. 5
3.3	Antigenic Characterization of Current SARS-CoV-2 Variants	. 6
3.4	Global Alignment of COVID-19 Strain Composition	. 7
4	Options for Selection of Strains for Updated COVID-19 Vaccines for the 2024-2025 Vaccination Campaign	8
4.1	Summary of the Approach and the Data Reviewed for the Vaccine Strain Composition Recommendation	8
4.2	Manufacturing Considerations	. 9
4.3	Summary of Considerations for Selection of Strain(s) for inclusion in 2024-2025 COVID-19 Vaccines.	9
5	VRBPAC Meeting Topics	10
6	References	11

#### 1 Meeting Objective

On June 5, 2024, the Vaccines and Related Biological Products Advisory Committee (VRBPAC) will meet in open session to discuss and make recommendations on the selection of the 2024-2025 Formula for COVID-19 vaccines.

#### 2 Background

#### 2.1 Previous VRBPAC Discussions and Vaccine Composition Recommendations

VRBPAC has met multiple times since 2022 to discuss the selection of the Formula for COVID-19 vaccines. A bivalent COVID-19 vaccine containing the Original and Omicron BA.4/BA.5 components was recommended for COVID-19 vaccines (2022-2023 Formula). Following a discussion on the harmonization of strain composition and simplification of the immunization schedule for COVID-19 vaccines at the January 26, 2023 <u>VRBPAC meeting</u>, a monovalent composition targeting the XBB.1.5 sublineage was recommended for COVID-19 vaccines (2023-2024 Formula), at the June 15, 2023 <u>VRBPAC meeting</u>.

Based on the review of virus epidemiology data indicating recent dominance of the JN.1 sublineage, and data from post-monovalent XBB.1.5 human sera indicating a drop in neutralizing antibody responses against JN.1, the World Health Organization (WHO) Technical Advisory Group on COVID-19 Vaccine Composition recommended a <u>monovalent JN.1 lineage</u> <u>component</u> be included in the composition of COVID-19 vaccines (2024-2025 Formula). This recommendation was made on April 26, 2024, prior to the dominance of the KP.2 sublineage in the United States. Initial neutralization data of various vaccine candidates are now available for both the JN.1 and KP.2 sublineages and will be presented along with current SARS-CoV-2 epidemiologic data for VRBPAC's consideration.

### 2.2 FDA Approved and Authorized COVID-19 Vaccines

FDA has approved two COVID-19 vaccines for active immunization to prevent COVID-19 caused by SARS-CoV-2 in individuals 12 years of age and older. In addition, three vaccines are currently authorized by FDA for use in the U.S. under emergency use authorization (EUA).

#### 2.2.1 Spikevax and Moderna COVID-19 Vaccine (2023-2024 formula)

Spikevax (COVID-19 Vaccine, mRNA) manufactured by Moderna is approved for active immunization to prevent coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) caused by severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) in individuals 12 years of age and older. Spikevax contains nucleoside-modified messenger RNA (mRNA), encoding pre-fusion stabilized full-length Spike (S) protein of the Omicron sublineage XBB.1.5 SARS-CoV-2 strain, encapsulated in lipid particles. Moderna COVID-19 Vaccine (2023-2024 Formula), a formulation of the vaccine manufactured using the same process as Spikevax, is currently authorized under EUA for administration of a single-dose regimen to individuals 5 years of age and older, two-dose regimen in those individuals 6 months through 4 years of age previously not vaccinated with a COVID-19 vaccine, and a single-dose regimen to individuals 6 months through 4 years of age previously vaccinated with Moderna COVID-19 Vaccine. Individuals with certain kinds of immunocompromise 6 months through 11 years of age and older may be administered additional age-appropriate doses. For additional information on dosing and schedule, please refer to the Moderna COVID-19 Vaccine (2023-2024 Formula) Fact Sheet. Safety and effectiveness data supporting approval of Spikevax and authorization of Moderna COVID-19

<u>Vaccine (2023-2024 Formula)</u> are detailed in the decision memoranda available on the <u>FDA</u> <u>Website</u>

### 2.2.2 Comirnaty, Pfizer-BioNTech COVID-19 Vaccine (2023-2024 formula)

Comirnaty (COVID-19 Vaccine, mRNA) manufactured by Pfizer for BioNTech, is approved for active immunization to prevent coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) caused by severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) in individuals 12 years of age and older. Comirnaty contains a mRNA encoding the viral Spike (S) glycoprotein of the XBB.1.5 sublineage SARS-CoV-2 strain that is formulated in lipid particles. Pfizer-BioNTech COVID-19 Vaccine (2023-2024 Formula), a formulation of the vaccine manufactured using the same process as Comirnaty, is currently authorized under EUA for administration of a single-dose regimen to individuals 5 years of age and older, three-dose regimen in individuals 6 months through 4 years of age previously not vaccinated with a COVID-19 vaccine, two-dose regimen if previously vaccinated with one dose of Pfizer-BioNTech COVID-19 Vaccine, or a single-dose to individuals 6 months through 4 years of age previously vaccinated with two or three doses of Pfizer BioNTech COVID-19 Vaccine. Individuals with certain kinds of immunocompromise 6 months through 11 years of age may be administered additional age-appropriate doses. For additional information on dosing and schedule, please refer to the Pfizer-BioNTech COVID-19 Vaccine (2023-2024 Formula) Fact Sheet. Safety and effectiveness data supporting approval of Comirnaty and authorization of the Pfizer-BioNTech COVID-19 Vaccine (2023-2024 Formula) are detailed in the decision memoranda available on the FDA website.

### 2.2.3 Novavax COVID-19 Vaccine, Adjuvanted (2023-2024 formula)

Novavax COVID-19 Vaccine, Adjuvanted (2023-2024 Formula), which contains recombinant S protein of the SARS- CoV-2 XBB.1.5 sublineage strain and Matrix-M adjuvant, is authorized for active immunization to prevent coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) caused by severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) in individuals 12 years of age and older. Novavax COVID-19 Vaccine, Adjuvanted (2023-2024 Formula) is currently authorized under EUA for administration of a single-dose regimen at least 2 months after receipt of the last previous dose of COVID-19 vaccine to individuals 12 years of age and older previously vaccinated with any COVID-19 Vaccine. In individuals 12 years of age and older not previously vaccinated with any COVID-19 vaccine, Novavax COVID-19 Vaccine, Adjuvanted (2023-2024 Formula) is currently authorized under EUA for administration as a two-dose regimen. Individuals with certain kinds of immunocompromise 12 years of age and older may be administered additional age-appropriate doses. For additional information on dosing and schedule, please refer to the Novavax COVID-19 Vaccine, Adjuvanted (2023-2024 Formula) Fact Sheet. Safety and effectiveness data supporting authorization for the Novavax COVID-19 Vaccine, Adjuvanted (2023-2024 Formula) are detailed in the decision memoranda available on the FDA website.

### 3 Considerations for a Periodic Updated Strain Composition of COVID-19 Vaccines

# 3.1 Current Effectiveness of Authorized COVID-19 Vaccines (2023-2024 Formula) and Need for a Selection of 2024-2025 Formula

Several observational studies (DeCuir et al. 2024; Joshi et al. 2024; Link-Gelles et al. 2024) have been conducted to evaluate the effectiveness of COVID-19 vaccines (2023-2024 Formula) that were introduced after emergence and global dominance of XBB sublineages. These studies indicate that updating COVID-19 vaccines to an XBB.1.5-based formula was associated

with positive health outcomes, including a reduction in hospitalization and urgent care utilization.

Since the introduction of COVID-19 vaccines (2023-2024 Formula) in fall 2023, SARS-CoV-2 has continued evolving into distinct sublineages by acquiring additional mutations (see section 3.2). Although real-world effectiveness studies suggest that currently approved/authorized COVID-19 vaccines (2023-2024 Formula) continue to provide protection against more currently circulating XBB sublineages, in prior years there appears to have been an inverse relationship between the time since vaccination and vaccine effectiveness, such that COVID-19 vaccine effectiveness against SARS-CoV-2 sublineages appears to wane over time (Link-Gelles et al. 2023) and that better matching of the vaccine to circulating strains is associated with improved neutralizing antibody titers (Jiang et al. 2023). Consistent with this observation, a decrease in effectiveness of COVID-19 vaccines (2023-2024 Formula) against COVID-19 caused by JN.1 lineage viruses has been reported (Kirsebom et al. 2024; Shrestha et al. 2024).

Available data suggest that updating the current formula of COVID-19 vaccines to more closely match currently circulating JN.1 lineage viruses is warranted for the anticipated 2024–2025 respiratory virus season in the U.S.

#### 3.2 Current Virus Surveillance

Since the emergence of the SARS-CoV-2 Omicron virus variant in late 2021, SARS-CoV-2 has continued evolving into distinct sublineages with additional mutations in the Spike gene, as well as elsewhere in the genome. This has led to successive waves of many Omicron sublineages across the globe. In the U.S., BA.5 sublineage dominated during much of fall 2022, while other Omicron sublineages, including BA.4 sublineage, co-circulated at lower frequencies. By winter 2022, BQ sublineages diverged from BA.5 by acquiring additional mutations in the Spike receptor binding domain (RBD), resulting in K444T, N460K, and R346T (BQ.1.1) substitutions. These changes conferred additional immune escape from postvaccination and post-infection serum, but the BQ sublineages were rapidly replaced by the recombinant XBB virus and its sublineages by spring 2023, both in the U.S. and globally. The XBB.1.5 sublineage spread globally in the first guarter of 2023, reaching dominance in North America, as well as other parts of the world by April 2023. The JN.1 variant, a descendant of the BA.2.86 lineage containing a new L455S mutation, was first detected in August 2023 and subsequently became the dominant subvariant by January 2024. JN.1 remained dominant during the remainder of winter and early spring 2024. However, in February 2024, the KP.2 subvariant containing two new mutations, i.e., F456L and R356T that appear to confer an advantage to the virus either in terms of fitness or escape from immunity, became noticeable. By late April 2024 KP.2 had become the dominant virus variant in the U.S. (Figure 1, below).

SARS-CoV-2 evolution continues to be complex and remains unpredictable. There is no indication that SARS-CoV-2 evolution is slowing, though immunity appears to be mitigating severe clinical outcomes, particularly in younger populations. Intrinsic viral factors, including mutation rate and recombination potential, generate possibilities for increased transmissibility and adaptation to the host. At the same time, host immune responses and other factors contribute to selection of variants. Generation of immune escape variants may be further facilitated by chronic infections in immunocompromised hosts or potentially by waning of immunity in immunocompetent hosts. Thus far, the impressive plasticity, especially in Spike, suggests that the virus can continue evolving by both incremental (drift-like) and saltatory (shift-like) modes, underscoring the critical importance of on-going global surveillance.

#### 3.3 Antigenic Characterization of Current SARS-CoV-2 Variants

As immunity increases globally from vaccinations and/or infections, natural selection of immune escape variants appears to be playing an increasing role in SARS-CoV-2 evolution. Many mutations have emerged in the receptor binding domain of Spike, which is the main target of antibodies that neutralize the virus.

During the period from February 4, 2024, to May 25, 2024, SARS-CoV-2 subvariants continued to evolve. At the beginning of this period, the JN.1 variant was dominant with small percentages of several other subvariants. However, as of May 25, 2024, the KP.2 subvariant became most prevalent (28.5%), followed by KP.3 (12.7%) and JN.1.7 (9.2%) (Figure 1).

### Figure 1. Recent antigenic evolution of SARS-CoV-2 in the United States

# Weighted and Nowcast Estimates in United States for 2-Week Periods in 2/4/2024 – 5/25/2024

Hover over (or tap in mobile) any lineage of interest to see the amount of

#### Nowcast Estimates in United States for 5/12/2024 – 5/25/2024



\* Enumerated lineages and US VOC and lineages circulating above 1% nationally in at least one 2-week period. "Other represent the aggregation of the lineages which are circulating <1% nationally during all 2-week periods displayed. \*\* These data include Nowcast estimates which are modeled projections that may differ from weighted estimates generated at later dates.

# XDP was aggregated to JN.1.4 (same spike as JN.1 but recombinants are always difficult). While all lineages are tracked by CDC, those named lineages not enumerated in this graphic are aggregated with their parent lineages based on Pango lineage definitions. For a full list of the current Pango lineages see <a href="https://cov-lineages.org/lineage">https://cov-lineages.org/lineage</a> list.</a>

Source: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. COVID Data Tracker. Atlanta, GA: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, CDC; 2024, May 28. <u>https://covid.cdc.gov/covid-data-tracker/#variant-proportions</u>

The continued diversification of the Omicron variant has resulted in successive waves of lineages/sublineages, often with decreased susceptibility to neutralization. Despite use of different neutralization assays involving different cohorts with heterogeneous immune histories, the neutralization titer trends that are reported against emerging variants are generally consistent across studies (Branche et al. 2023; Kurhade et al. 2023; Qu et al. 2023; Wang et al. 2023; Wang et al. 2023c; Yue et al. 2023; Zou et al. 2023).

As noted above, the JN.1 virus variant that became dominant in North America and the rest of the world in late 2023 and early 2024 was in effect a global sweep, replacing the previous XBB lineage viruses that had dominated earlier in 2023. Although both XBB and JN.1 lineage viruses descended from earlier BA.2 derived viruses, the lineages evolved separately and are antigenically distinct. XBB was a recombinant of two BA.2 derived viruses, BA.2.10.1 and BA.2.75, with substantial Spike amino acid changes compared to the original BA.2 and included multiple amino acid mutations in the Spike receptor binding domain (RBD). The JN.1 variant is a descendant of the BA.2.86 lineage with a new L455S RBD mutation. Overall, BA.2.86 and the more recent related JN.1 lineage viruses contain over 30 Spike protein mutations in comparison with XBB lineage viruses, suggesting the potential for evasion of immunity elicited by prior infection and/or vaccination. JN.1 continued to evolve during spring 2024, giving rise to a group of JN.1 lineage subvariant viruses, many of which, such as KP.2, contain concerning new mutations in Spike RBD, most notably the so-called FLiRT mutations at F456L and R356T. While the landscape of JN.1-derived virus variants is guite diverse (Figure 1, above), currently the original JN.1 virus has almost disappeared. JN.1-derived variants containing F456L along with R346T (e.g., KP.2) and in some cases T572I (e.g., KP.3) are the fastest increasing viruses detected world-wide. Very early preliminary data from several laboratories indicate that these particular RBD mutations result in a further decrease in neutralizing antibody titers that were elicited by prior infection and/or vaccination.

In summary, the low neutralizing antibody titers to current JN.1 and KP.2 sublineages elicited by vaccination, infection, or hybrid immunity suggest that even individuals previously infected with an XBB-lineage virus and/or immunized with an XBB.1.5-based COVID-19 vaccine may be susceptible to infection with currently circulating JN.1 and KP.2 sublineages. That said, it is important to note that the degree of clinical illness following infection will likely vary depending on age, co-morbidities, immune profiles, and other host factors.

### 3.4 Global Alignment of COVID-19 Strain Composition

The continued evolution of SARS-CoV-2, the unpredictable emergence and spread of virus variants, and the diversity of vaccine manufacturers and complexities in vaccine supply present challenges for a globally coordinated recommendation for periodically updating COVID-19 vaccine composition. Nevertheless, global public health agencies and vaccine regulators have had ongoing discussions throughout the year to address the issue of changes to vaccine strain composition in an effort to align the criteria for vaccine strain selection and vaccine composition recommendations when possible.

The International Coalition of Medicines Regulatory Authorities (ICMRA) is an informal group of international regulatory authorities that promotes collaboration and communication to address common challenges. At an ICMRA workshop entitled "<u>Global Perspectives on COVID-19</u> <u>Vaccines Strain Update</u> held February 26-27, 2024, FDA and other regulators met to discuss global regulatory alignment to adapt COVID-19 vaccines to emerging SARS-CoV-2 variants and to discuss the preferred strain composition for future vaccine updates. The conclusions of the meeting included: that use of prior knowledge on a specific product could be used for the approval of strain changes for currently authorized or approved COVID-19 vaccines; Spike antigen change procedures should take into consideration all available information and data from studies; at the present time an updated vaccine composition for currently authorized or approved COVID-19 vaccines can be based on quality and non-clinical data; and that postauthorization commitments may be needed to gather data on vaccine effectiveness against severe outcomes as well as symptomatic disease. Immunogenicity data from clinical trials with updated vaccines are important to support future antigen change decisions. Additionally, it was noted that at the present time there are no apparent differences in SARS-CoV-2 circulation and transmission in the Northern and Southern Hemispheres.

The WHO has established the Technical Advisory Group on COVID-19 Vaccine Composition (TAG-CO-VAC) to review and assess the public health implications of emerging SARS-CoV-2 variants of concern (VOCs) on the performance of COVID-19 vaccines and to provide recommendations to WHO on COVID-19 vaccine strain composition. On April 26, 2024, the TAG-CO-VAC issued a <u>statement</u> on the antigen composition of COVID-19 vaccines, summarizing the data reviewed by the group on the antigenicity and cross-protection following infection and/or vaccination in the context of currently circulating XBB viruses. Some of the major recommendations in this most recent statement are as follows:

- SARS-CoV-2 continues to circulate and evolve with important genetic and antigenic evolution of the Spike protein.
- The objective of an update to COVID-19 vaccine antigen composition is to enhance vaccine-induced immune responses to circulating SARS-CoV-2 variants.
- As the virus is expected to continue to evolve from JN.1, the TAG-CO-VAC advises the use of a **monovalent JN.1 lineage** as the antigen in future formulations of COVID-19 vaccines.

Additionally, the TAG-CO-VAC noted that given the limitations of the evidence upon which the recommendations above are derived and the anticipated continued evolution of the virus, the TAG-CO-VAC strongly encourages generation of data on immune responses and clinical endpoints (i.e., vaccine effectiveness) on the performance of all currently approved COVID-19 vaccines against emerging SARS-CoV-2 variants, and candidate vaccines with an updated antigen over time.

The TAG-CO-VAC recommendation for a monovalent JN.1 lineage vaccine was made at a time when JN.1 was almost completely dominant and before JN.1 lineage-derived virus variants with FLiRT mutations, such as KP.2, became dominant in the U.S. This change in epidemiology warrants consideration.

#### 4 Options for Selection of Strains for Updated COVID-19 Vaccines for the 2024-2025 Vaccination Campaign

# 4.1 Summary of the Approach and the Data Reviewed for the Vaccine Strain Composition Recommendation

In previous discussions with VRBPAC, FDA described the proposed evidentiary basis that would be used to determine the need for updating the strain composition of COVID-19 vaccines. The relevant data reviewed would ideally include multiple types and sources of data. In preparation for the June 2024 VRBPAC discussion, FDA reviewed various types of data as listed below, engaged with the key partners generating such data, including vaccine manufacturers and other U.S. government agencies, and reviewed the discussions and recommendations put forth by other regulatory groups and public health agencies as noted above.

- Virus surveillance and genomic analyses to identify emerging new virus variants. As described in section <u>3.2</u>, SARS-CoV-2 JN.1 virus was predominant earlier this year, but more recently the KP.2 subvariant with two notable additional amino acid mutations became predominant.
- Antigenic characterization of viruses to identify antigenically distinct variant viruses. As described in section <u>3.3</u>, SARS-CoV-2 subvariants JN.1 and KP.2 have additional amino acid changes relative to previously circulating SARS-CoV-2 variants, suggesting continued evolution and increasing immunological distance from the components of currently authorized or approved COVID-19 vaccines.
- Postvaccination human serology studies to evaluate antibody responses generated by the current vaccines against more recently circulating virus variants such as JN.1 lineage and KP.2 subvariant viruses. Since COVID-19 vaccine manufacturers are best positioned to generate the robust data needed from postvaccination human serology studies, FDA set up informal technical working group meetings with each of the manufacturers of currently U.S.-authorized/approved COVID-19 vaccines to share and discuss findings from human serology studies of their current vaccines against current circulating viruses. These data will be presented at the VRBPAC meeting by the vaccine manufacturers.
- Nonclinical immunogenicity studies to evaluate immune responses generated by new candidate vaccines (e.g., expressing or containing updated variant Spike components) against antigenically distinct circulating virus variants. Nonclinical immunogenicity data (e.g., neutralizing antibody) can provide an indication of how well antibodies to Spike of one strain will cross-neutralize other variant strains of SARS-CoV-2 and thus help inform formula selection in combination with other data. As with human serology studies, COVID-19 vaccine manufacturers are also able to generate nonclinical immunogenicity studies with new candidate vaccines and each of the manufacturers of U.S.-authorized/approved COVID-19 vaccines have produced candidate vaccines at risk and evaluated them in nonclinical studies. These data will be presented at the VRBPAC meeting by the vaccine manufacturers.

### 4.2 Manufacturing Considerations

Recommendations for updating the antigenic composition of COVID-19 vaccines must consider the time needed for manufacturers to implement and deliver an updated COVID-19 vaccine. The timelines likely differ for different manufacturing technologies and are also affected by manufacturing experience and the availability and capacity of manufacturing facilities. All three vaccine manufacturers have been evaluating candidate vaccines "at risk" in preparation for an antigenic change in an anticipated 2024-2025 Formula in the event that such a change was recommended. In general, the manufacturers have indicated a shorter timeline is needed for mRNA vaccine antigenic composition changes compared with that needed for protein subunit vaccines.

#### 4.3 Summary of Considerations for Selection of Strain(s) for inclusion in 2024-2025 COVID-19 Vaccines

As noted in section <u>3.2</u>, although JN.1 sublineages were predominant through spring 2024 in the U.S., the KP.2 subvariant has now become the predominant circulating strain. Because the antigenic distance between JN.1 and JN.1-derived subvariants such as KP.2 subvariants is not far, it is possible that vaccines developed against JN.1 may adequately protect against KP.2. However, further SARS-CoV-2 evolution may lead to further divergence from JN.1, and

consideration may need to be given to the selection of the subvariant that is currently predominant to assure the best possible match as the virus further evolves.

#### 5 VRBPAC Meeting Topics

On June 5, 2024, VRBPAC will meet in open session to discuss and make recommendations on the selection of the 2024-2025 Formula for COVID-19 vaccines. The committee will be asked to discuss available evidence on recent and currently circulating SARS-CoV-2 variants, including data from virus surveillance and genomic analyses, antigenic characterization analyses, vaccine effectiveness and clinical immunogenicity studies of current U.S.-authorized/approved COVID-19 vaccines and nonclinical immunogenicity studies of candidate vaccines expressing or containing updated Spike antigens.

#### 6 References

Branche, AR, NG Rouphael, C Losada, LR Baden, EJ Anderson, AF Luetkemeyer, DJ Diemert, PL Winokur, RM Presti, AC Kottkamp, AR Falsey, SE Frey, R Rupp, M Bäcker, RM Novak, EB Walter, LA Jackson, SJ Little, LC Immergluck, SM Mahgoub, JA Whitaker, TM Babu, PA Goepfert, DN Fusco, RL Atmar, CM Posavad, A Netzl, DJ Smith, K Telu, J Mu, M Makowski, MK Makhene, S Crandon, DC Montefiori, PC Roberts, and JH Beigel, 2023, Immunogenicity of the BA.1 and BA.4/BA.5 Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2 Bivalent Boosts: Preliminary Results From the COVAIL Randomized Clinical Trial, Clin Infect Dis, 77(4):560-564.

DeCuir, J, AB Payne, WH Self, EAK Rowley, K Dascomb, MB DeSilva, SA Irving, SJ Grannis, TC Ong, NP Klein, ZA Weber, SE Reese, SW Ball, MA Barron, AL Naleway, BE Dixon, I Essien, D Bride, K Natarajan, B Fireman, AB Shah, E Okwuazi, R Wiegand, Y Zhu, AS Lauring, ET Martin, M Gaglani, ID Peltan, SM Brown, AA Ginde, NM Mohr, KW Gibbs, DN Hager, M Prekker, A Mohamed, V Srinivasan, JS Steingrub, A Khan, LW Busse, A Duggal, JG Wilson, SY Chang, C Mallow, JH Kwon, MC Exline, C Columbus, IA Vaughn, B Safdar, JM Mosier, ES Harris, JD Casey, JD Chappell, CG Grijalva, SA Swan, C Johnson, NM Lewis, S Ellington, K Adams, MW Tenforde, CR Paden, FS Dawood, KE Fleming-Dutra, D Surie, and R Link-Gelles, 2024, Interim Effectiveness of Updated 2023-2024 (Monovalent XBB.1.5) COVID-19 Vaccines Against COVID-19-Associated Emergency Department and Urgent Care Encounters and Hospitalization Among Immunocompetent Adults Aged ≥18 Years - VISION and IVY Networks, September 2023-January 2024, MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep, 73(8):180-188.

Jiang, N, L Wang, M Hatta, C Feng, M Currier, X Lin, J Hossain, D Cui, BR Mann, NA Kovacs, W Wang, G Atteberry, M Wilson, R Chau, KA Lacek, CR Paden, N Hassell, B Rambo-Martin, JR Barnes, RJ Kondor, WH Self, JP Rhoads, A Baughman, JD Chappell, NI Shapiro, KW Gibbs, DN Hager, AS Lauring, D Surie, ML McMorrow, NJ Thornburg, DE Wentworth, and B Zhou, 2023, Bivalent mRNA vaccine improves antibody-mediated neutralization of many SARS-CoV-2 Omicron lineage variants, bioRxiv:2023.2001.2008.523127.

Joshi, K, S Scholz, M Maschio, M Kohli, A Lee, K Fust, B Ultsch, N Van de Velde, and E Beck, 2024, Clinical impact and cost-effectiveness of the updated COVID-19 mRNA Autumn 2023 vaccines in Germany, J Med Econ, 27(1):39-50.

Kirsebom, FCM, J Stowe, J Lopez Bernal, A Allen, and N Andrews, 2024, Effectiveness of autumn 2023 COVID-19 vaccination and residual protection of prior doses against hospitalisation in England, estimated using a test-negative case-control study, J Infect, 89(1):106177.

Kurhade, C, J Zou, H Xia, M Liu, HC Chang, P Ren, X Xie, and PY Shi, 2023, Low neutralization of SARS-CoV-2 Omicron BA.2.75.2, BQ.1.1 and XBB.1 by parental mRNA vaccine or a BA.5 bivalent booster, Nature Medicine, 29(2):344-347.

Link-Gelles, R, AA Ciesla, J Mak, JD Miller, BJ Silk, AS Lambrou, CR Paden, P Shirk, A Britton, ZR Smith, and KE Fleming-Dutra, 2024, Early Estimates of Updated 2023-2024 (Monovalent XBB.1.5) COVID-19 Vaccine Effectiveness Against Symptomatic SARS-CoV-2 Infection Attributable to Co-Circulating Omicron Variants Among Immunocompetent Adults - Increasing Community Access to Testing Program, United States, September 2023-January 2024, MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep, 73(4):77-83.

Link-Gelles, R, AA Ciesla, LE Roper, HM Scobie, AR Ali, JD Miller, RE Wiegand, EK Accorsi, JR Verani, N Shang, G Derado, A Britton, ZR Smith, and KE Fleming-Dutra, 2023, Early Estimates of

Bivalent mRNA Booster Dose Vaccine Effectiveness in Preventing Symptomatic SARS-CoV-2 Infection Attributable to Omicron BA.5- and XBB/XBB.1.5-Related Sublineages Among Immunocompetent Adults - Increasing Community Access to Testing Program, United States, December 2022-January 2023, MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep, 72(5):119-124.

Qu, P, JN Faraone, JP Evans, YM Zheng, C Carlin, M Anghelina, P Stevens, S Fernandez, D Jones, A Panchal, LJ Saif, EM Oltz, K Xu, RJ Gumina, and SL Liu, 2023, Extraordinary Evasion of Neutralizing Antibody Response by Omicron XBB.1.5, CH.1.1 and CA.3.1 Variants, bioRxiv.

Shrestha, NK, PC Burke, AS Nowacki, and SM Gordon, 2024, Effectiveness of the 2023-2024 Formulation of the Coronavirus Disease 2019 mRNA Vaccine against the JN.1 Variant, medRxiv:2024.2004.2027.24306378.

Wang, Q, Y Guo, AR Tam, R Valdez, A Gordon, L Liu, and DD Ho, 2023a, Deep immunological imprinting due to the ancestral spike in the current bivalent COVID-19 vaccine, Cell Rep Med, 4(11):101258.

Wang, Q, S Iketani, Z Li, L Liu, Y Guo, Y Huang, AD Bowen, M Liu, M Wang, J Yu, R Valdez, AS Lauring, Z Sheng, HH Wang, A Gordon, L Liu, and DD Ho, 2023b, Alarming antibody evasion properties of rising SARS-CoV-2 BQ and XBB subvariants, Cell, 186(2):279-286.e278.

Wang, W, E Goguet, S Paz, R Vassell, S Pollett, E Mitre, and CD Weiss, 2023c, Bivalent Coronavirus Disease 2019 Vaccine Antibody Responses to Omicron Variants Suggest That Responses to Divergent Variants Would Be Improved With Matched Vaccine Antigens, J Infect Dis, 228(4):439-443.

Yue, C, W Song, L Wang, F Jian, X Chen, F Gao, Z Shen, Y Wang, X Wang, and Y Cao, 2023, ACE2 binding and antibody evasion in enhanced transmissibility of XBB.1.5, The Lancet Infectious Diseases, 23(3):278-280.

Zou, J, C Kurhade, S Patel, N Kitchin, K Tompkins, M Cutler, D Cooper, Q Yang, H Cai, A Muik, Y Zhang, D-Y Lee, U Şahin, AS Anderson, WC Gruber, X Xie, KA Swanson, and P-Y Shi, 2023, Neutralization of BA.4–BA.5, BA.4.6, BA.2.75.2, BQ.1.1, and XBB.1 with Bivalent Vaccine, New England Journal of Medicine, 388(9):854-857.